

All Theses and Dissertations

2017-06-01

# Hopelessness and Youth Violent Behavior: A Longitudinal Study

Janie Demetropoulos Brigham Young University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd



Part of the Sociology Commons

### BYU ScholarsArchive Citation

Demetropoulos, Janie, "Hopelessness and Youth Violent Behavior: A Longitudinal Study" (2017). All Theses and Dissertations. 6822. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/6822

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact scholarsarchive@byu.edu, ellen amatangelo@byu.edu.



# Hopelessness and Youth Violent Behavior: A Longitudinal Study

# Janie Demetropoulos

A thesis submitted to the faculty of
Brigham Young University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Michael R. Cope, Chair John P. Hoffmann Carol J. Ward

Department of Sociology

Brigham Young University

Copyright © 2017 Janie Demetropoulos

All Rights Reserved



#### **ABSTRACT**

Hopelessness and Youth Violent Behavior: A Longitudinal Study

Janie Demetropoulos Department of Sociology, BYU Master of Science

This study examines how hopelessness impacts youth engagement in violent behavior over time. The data are from waves I and II of The National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health). Poisson regression was used to analyze contributors to violence in just wave I, and then again across time in wave II using explanatory and control variables from wave I. Results indicate that hopelessness is positively associated with violent behavior. Furthermore, while hopelessness and most of the other explanatory variables predicted violent behavior in wave I, almost all the variables became non-significant or negative except hopelessness and a measure of community when predicting violence in wave II. This shows that hopelessness is a concept that needs to be explored more closely when studying violence among youth.

Keywords: hopelessness, violence, violent behavior, youth, adolescents, longitudinal



#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

I would like to thank my chair, Michael Cope, for all the time and encouragement he's given me and for Carol Ward and John Hoffmann for all their support and advice. I definitely could not have made it through this program without you three. I would also like to thank everyone in my cohort for dealing with my craziness and for helping me whenever I got stuck in classes or life in general. I could not have asked for a better group of friends to work with. And finally, I want to thank Margaret McCabe and the rest of my professors for talking with me and making me feel like I could do anything.



# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
LIST OF TABLES	V
INTRODUCTION	1
HOPE	2
HOPELESSNESS	3
VIOLENT BEHAVIOR	4
HOPELESSNESS AND VIOLENT BEHAVIOR	6
Hopeless Adolescents and Violent Behavior	6
Limitations in Previous Studies	9
SUMMARY AND EXPECTATIONS	10
DATA AND METHODS	10
Data	10
Outcome Variable: Violent Behavior	11
Explanatory Variables	12
Control Variables	14
Analytic Strategy	15
RESULTS	15
DISCUSSION	17
CONCLUSION	19
REFERENCES	21
TABLES	29

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Descriptive Statistics	29
Table 2. Determinants of Violent Behavior (wave 1)	30
Table 3. Determinants of Violent Behavior (wave 2)	31



# HOPELESSNESS AND YOUTH VIOLENT BEHAVIOR: A LONGITUDINAL STUDY

Over the last couple of decades, hope has become an increasingly common topic of discussion due to the expansion of positive psychology. Hope has been found to be a protective factor against suicide and other self-injuries, making it a vital part of our society (Luo et al. 2016). Despite its importance, defining the true nature of hope can be very elusive; only a few researchers even have attempted to do so. In his 1987 book, *A Philosophy of Human Hope*, Joseph Godfrey endeavored to outline the concept of hope. He said that hope can be taken multiple ways for example, as a verb; "I hope to finish this project," a noun; "There's no hope for her," or an adjective; "Despite how disappointed I am right now, I am still hopeful" (Godfrey 1987). It is this last type of hope, the attitude of hope, which will be the focus in this paper.

While the protective nature of hope has typically been connected to suicide and other inwardly aggressive behaviors, it may be protective of more outwardly aggressive behaviors as well. If hope is defined as the positive expectation of one's future, then it should be protective of delinquent and violent behavior as well, as any destructive behavior would jeopardize that expectation. Although hope has been found to be protective of suicide and other self-harming behaviors (Luo et al. 2016), only a few studies have focused on the other end of this spectrum, hopelessness and its outwardly harmful effects.

The purpose of the present study is twofold: (1) to assess the extent to which hopelessness influences engagement in violent behavior, and (2) to explore this relationship over time. I attend to these goals by using a nationally representative data from a large study of youth to longitudinally study the impact hopelessness and other traditionally connected concepts have on violent behavior. Taken together, this study helps to extend the literature on violent behavior



and delinquency generally and contribute specifically to how such behaviors are linked to psychological states of being such as hopelessness (e.g., Allwood et al. 2012; Bolland 2003; Duke et al. 2011; Stoddard, Zimmerman, and Bauermeister 2011).

#### **HOPE**

So, what exactly are we hoping *for*? According to Godfrey (1987:11), "what is hoped for is... a state of affairs or an event." Thus, hope isn't something that is based on things that are occurring at the present moment. Rather, hope is directed towards the unknown future. Even such expressions as, "I hope you had a good day" are still future-oriented because it is not known at the present whether or not such a thing happened, so it is still very much a part of the future. Furthermore, expressions of hope are for definite things. Very rarely does someone simply end a sentence with "I hope." There is always a definite object of that hope. If it weren't something specific, then how could we know whether to be disappointed when our hopes are unfulfilled, or satisfied when our hopes are realized (Godfrey 1987)?

Bury, Wenzel, and Woodyatt (2016) attempt to better clarify the concept of hope as well as tackle the moments when hope is created or arises. They contend that, "hope must involve more than expectation, for if one expects to obtain a desired goal, what need is there to hope?" (Bury et al. 2016:588). Moreover, "hope is grounded in uncertainty; it is exactly the uncertainty of obtainment that causes one to hope" (Bury et al. 2016:589). Again, these researchers argue that hope is for something defined; their contention is that hope comes forth when odds are low but individuals are highly invested in the outcome. A person does not hope for something about which they are apathetic or certain. Hope has its place only in the improbable things. This does not mean that individuals with hope ignore their low chances of success, but rather that "hope arises in recognition of the uncertainty of reaching their goal" (Bury et al. 2016:589). Therefore,



our final definition of hope is an attitude, a belief in a definite something *more* for the future, in spite of – or very well because of – how the present may appear.

#### **HOPELESSNESS**

It may be easy to think that hope and hopelessness are conceptualized on the same spectrum, but Huen et al. (2015) argue that hope and hopelessness cannot be seen in that way; they are two distinct but correlated constructs. They claim that hopelessness is a negative future expectation and hope is "... not simply a positive future expectation... but also contains a mixture of outcome expectancies... and one's expectancies about whether or not one is able to influence the outcome" (Huen et al. 2015:5). Hopelessness is a belief in the inevitability of failure, while hope is a continued belief in the possibility of success, no matter how remote. Thus, both hope and hopelessness are based on future expectation, but hope expects that a person can influence the outcome, something hopelessness doesn't do. This means that a person can have both hope and hopelessness at the same time, showing that "hope and hopelessness have their own bipolar spectra" and should not be treated as the absence of one or the other (Huen et al. 2015:5). In other words, "a person can have a raised sense of agency and problem-solving abilities (i.e., hope) on one spectrum, together with the presence of negative future-oriented thoughts (i.e., hopelessness) on the other" (Huen et al. 2015:5).

One example of this, as given by Huen et al. (2015:5), is a person with seasonal affective disorder who is experiencing its symptoms during the cold months. While the person feels pessimistic and negative towards his future and oversleeps and overeats, he is also hopeful that (based on past experience) the change of seasons will improve his future and therefore attempts to change his bad habits and negative thoughts. It is the difference in temporal focus that makes it possible for a person to be hopeless and hopeful at the same time because, "whereas



hopelessness focuses on the anticipation of future experiences or consequences, hope focuses on past and present experiences of successful goal pursuit" (Huen et al. 2015:5).

Hopelessness is defined here as the negative perception of one's future. Future orientation provides the basis for making plans and setting goals for the future, which is an integral part of an adolescent's life as young people determine who they want to be as an adult. It is vital that they feel confidence in their ability to succeed. Research has shown that if an individual has hope for the future, they have a much better chance of becoming a successful adult later in life (Arnett 2000; Nurmi 1989; Nurmi, Poole, and Seginer 1995). It stands to reason then that those with a more negative perception of their own futures would have less of a chance of being successful. Why would an individual try to be successful if he or she has already determined that it is impossible? Further confirming this, hopelessness has been shown to be one of the best predictors of suicide, both suicidal ideation and the act (Huen et al. 2015).

#### VIOLENT BEHAVIOR

Violent behavior, which refers to behavior that causes physical harm or threat to another, could be classified as either a reckless act of passion or the result of calculation. Whether it is an act of passion or calculation depends on the motivation of the individual or group, and both passion and calculation could be the impetus of some violent acts. Violent behavior is varied and several variables have been used to predict it. These have included lack of education (Chaudhuri, Chowdhury, and Reilly 2013; Deming 2011; Lochner and Moretti 2001; Maguin and Loeber 1996; Stacey 1998), negative peer influences, the young adult dropout culture (Akers 1998; Cloward and Ohlin 1960; Hartnagel and Krahn 1989; Matsueda and Anderson 1998; Osgood et al. 1996; Thornberry et al.1994; Warr 2002), early exposure to violence (Olweus 1995), a lack of self-control, and the drug trade (Barber 2008; Draine et al. 2002; Fajnzylber, Lederman, and



Loayza 2002; Gibson and Wright 2001; Gottfredson and Herschi 1990; Harrison and Gfroerer 1992; Marien 2011; Pratt and Cullen 2000). It has also been argued by Katz (1990) and others that there are some individuals who choose a life of violent behavior; there are certain people who enjoy a criminal type lifestyle and despise the steady, working life of an average member of society (Conley and Wang 2006). Whatever the reason behind the violent behavior, there is no doubt that it has a negative effect on the lives of those who participate.

Research shows that violence rates typically peak during adolescence (Stoddard, Zimmerman, and Bauermeister 2011), and those labeled as delinquent at one point in time could become more violent in later points of time (e.g., Lemert 1951). Previous research on youth violence has examined risk and promotive influences, particularly those factors related to good and poor academic achievement and how they relate to violent behavior (Borowsky, Windome, and Resnick 2008; Brookmeyer, Henrich, and Schwab-Stone 2005; DuRant et al. 1994; Farrington 2007; Gorman-Smith, Henry, and Tolan 2004; Herrenkohl et al. 2000; Resnick, Bearman, and Blum 1997; Resnick, Ireland, and Borowsky 2004; Sampson and Raudenbush 1997; Valois et al. 2002).

The influence of peer relationships has also been shown to influence whether or not adolescents engage in violent behavior (Busch et al. 2015). Those who have more peer-problems can become more prone to bullying, which can then lead to disengagement from school and others leading to even more discontent and violence. Other research indicates that attitudes have a significant impact on violence (Blee 2007; Epps and Haworth 1993; White et al. 2013; Wiklund et al. 2014). These studies focus on a particular kind of attitude—one that either favors or opposes violence—and how it affects future violence. Predictably, those who have a positive attitude toward violence are much more likely to commit violent acts (White et al. 2013;



Wiklund et al. 2014). Yet, few studies have investigated the concept of the attitude of hopelessness as it relates to youth violence, and even fewer have explored it longitudinally.

#### HOPELESSNESS AND VIOLENT BEHAVIOR

Hopelessness and violent behavior have been discussed exhaustively in other areas, but they have rarely been discussed in conjunction with one another. Hopelessness can be a very strong emotion and, therefore, can have a significant impact on how people react to various situations. While much of the literature connects hopelessness to personal grievances (suicide, self-harm, addictions, etc.), it stands to reason that hopelessness could also be connected to social injustices as well, such as violent behavior. This kind of violence can be directed against communities, particular groups, or even specific persons depending on where the individual places blame for their feelings of hopelessness. Because violent behavior typically peaks during adolescence, this age group is an ideal population with which to examine this relationship.

Hopeless Adolescents and Violent Behavior

Feelings of hopelessness can be brought about by environmental factors such as a culture or community of violence and poverty since "neighborhoods play an important role in influencing a young person's values" (Stoddard et al. 2011:280). When the behaviors that are modeled for a child are negative behaviors that lead to hopelessness, it is much more likely that the adolescent will mimic those behaviors and emotions. An attachment to one's community can involve a sense of community, feelings of belonging, and a measure of community embeddedness (Boulianne and Brailey 2014) and can arise from various social relations, opportunities, and resources. If youth have negative experiences with members of their community, or limited opportunities or resources needed for a hopeful future then a lack of attachment to the adolescents' community can arise. A disruption or detachment from an adolescents' community,



such as a recent move, could also create a feeling of a lack of attachment to the youths' community.

Furthermore, this lack of attachment to an adolescent's community can also hamper the development of values like trust and hope, restricting an adolescent's ability to think about the future (Lorion and Saltzman 1993; McGee 1984). Thus, "if youth do not have positive expectations for the future and do not see current behaviors as linked to future goals they may not be concerned about consequences of risk taking behaviors such as criminal involvement and violent behaviors" (Stoddard, Zimmerman, and Bauermeister 2011:239). Adolescents live much more in the moment than adults, giving little thought to the path they are making for themselves; furthermore, if they do not see a way out of their dismal situations, then they feel hopeless about the inevitability of their failure.

These risk-taking behaviors can be further influenced by youths' tendency to be impulsive, which some argue is one of the reasons why violent behavior peaks in adolescence (Agnew 2003). Additionally, hopelessness can "... often result in diminished concern regarding social norms and one's future within society..." which may lead to involvement in violence (Allwood et al. 2012:116). This lack of concern for social norms, one's future in society, and the feeling that current behaviors are not linked to future goals can lead an individual acting out in violence. If individuals feel uncertain about the future, they may just want to abandon long-term goals for short ones. Risky and dangerous behavior can be associated with more immediate forms of gratification and thus becomes more attractive. Impulsivity, then, can be a kind of reaction against hopelessness; even if the things violent adolescents are accomplishing are negative, they are still accomplishing *something*. These behaviors can usually end up becoming violent (Bolland et al. 2001:238).



Another perspective on the relationship of hopelessness and violence comes from an examination of the literature on hopelessness. Much of this literature connects hopelessness to individuals at risk for suicide, and it is often assumed that the majority of those classified in the suicidal group are low activity, depressed individuals. However, Dudeck et al. (2016:352) have shown that this is not the case; their research shows that "violent criminals are overrepresented in the suicide statistics, with rates of suicides in criminals four to five times greater than those found in the general population." Studies have consistently shown that hopelessness is a key predictor of suicide (Luo et al. 2006), and yet Dudeck's study has shown that there are more violent criminals than there should be in the suicide statistics. Therefore, it stands to reason that there is a stronger connection between feelings of hopelessness and violent behavior than previously thought. Dudeck hypothesizes, "if externally directed aggression is non-executable, the focus might switch to one's own person and self-directed aggression becomes more likely. Thus, aggressive behavior towards others and self-injurious or suicidal behavior may be the result of the same increased or disinhibited aggressive potential" (Dudeck et al. 2016:352). Hopelessness, therefore, can be seen to manifest itself in some sort of injurious behavior, whether it be harming others or harming oneself.

As Dudeck (2016) asserts, suicide and violent behavior are essentially the result of the same type of aggressive behavior; one is directed outward and the other is directed inward. Either way, a person is choosing to hurt a human being. Why and how this emotion is expressed in such different ways could be due to each person's perceptions of who to blame for the feelings of hopelessness. This perception is likely to be on some sort of spectrum, where many individuals don't blame just one person. Instead, they may have mixed feelings regarding who is at fault, whether it be themselves, others, or some combination of both. This may be why those



who are violent are also suicidal: because they can't determine precisely who they want to lash out against. Those who blame others could be more inclined to violent behavior, and those who blame themselves could be more suicidal.

I have argued that hopelessness can come from environmental factors, such as a lack of attachment to community, which can foster negative values. Moreover, if adolescents don't have positive expectations for the future and don't see their current behaviors as linked with future ones, they may abandon long-term goals for short ones, which can include violence.

Furthermore, an additional view on this connection is that hopelessness produces aggressive behavior which can result in either violent acts or suicide, depending on who the individual blames. Since hopelessness has already been well documented as a key risk factor for suicide, it stands to reason that hopelessness would be an important aspect of violent crime as well, since they can be argued to be the same general type of behavior.

#### Limitations in Previous Studies

Some studies have examined the relationship between hopelessness and violence (Allwood et al. 2012; Bolland 2003; Bolland et al. 2007; Bolland et al. 2001; Duke et al. 2011; Stoddard et al. 2011; Stoddard, Zimmerman, and Bauermeister 2011). However, the results are inconsistent, with some indicating that hopelessness is an important factor for predicting violence, and others finding that it is not. They also tend to be limited to specific groups, such as African Americans and high poverty inner city youths (Bolland 2003; Bolland et al. 2007; Bolland et al. 2001; Stoddard et al. 2011; Stoddard, Zimmerman, and Bauermeister 2011). Instead of focusing on subgroups of people, a broader analysis should be conducted in order to better understand how hopelessness affects a wide range of people.



Finally, studies tend to rely on cross-sectional data, with only a few studies using a longitudinal design to examine whether there is an association over time. Longitudinal studies have examined only specific groups like African Americans and those in high poverty neighborhoods, as previously mentioned (Bolland et al. 2007; Stoddard et al. 2011; Stoddard, Zimmerman, and Bauermeister 2011). If a longitudinal study included other racial groups, levels of income, and neighborhoods, it could more effectively examine the impact of feeling hopeless on future violence.

#### SUMMARY AND EXPECTATIONS

I have argued that for various reasons hopelessness is not the passive emotion that researchers portray it as. The very fact that hopelessness is typically connected to suicide—a very violent act against the one thing all cultures hold valuable—highlights this. Hopelessness is more than just a predictor of suicide; it is also an indication of current and future violent behavior. While triggers of violence have been researched exhaustively, hopelessness is one that has rarely seen the spotlight. Consequently, it is important to examine the effect of hopelessness on violence and to determine if the more hopeless individuals feel, the more likely they will be to participate in violent behavior. Therefore, I propose to answer the following research questions:

(1) does the feeling of hopelessness influence violent behavior, and (2) does hopelessness at one point in time affect future youth violent behavior?

#### DATA AND METHODS

Data

The research questions are examined using Wave I (collected 1994-1995) and Wave II data (collected in 1996) from the public use data of The National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health (Add Health). The data consist of an in-home interview, an in-school survey, and a school



administrator survey. Through random, stratified sampling of schools in the US, students were surveyed in 132 schools that were chosen to ensure representation with respect to school size and type, ethnicity, urbanicity, and region of country (Harris et al. 2009). An in-school questionnaire was administered to more than 90,000 of these students during a 45 to 60-minute class period and included topics such as risk behaviors, self-esteem, expectations for the future, education and occupation of parents, household structure, and social and demographic characteristics of the participants.

All students who completed the In-School Questionnaire as well as those who were absent that day but were enrolled in the school qualified for the in-home sample. A random sample of 20,745 students (6,504 observations available in the public use sample, which was used in this study) was then selected for an in-home interview; this constitutes the Wave I sample. This cohort of adolescents was then followed over time. Wave II was created about a year after Wave I with almost 15,000 (4,834 in the public use sample) of the original group and includes in-home interviews with the adolescents and follow-up school administrator interviews (Harries et al. 2009). Almost all the variables used here are from Wave 1, except for the variable measuring those who moved since Wave 1 and the second measurement of violent behavior in Wave 2. The final sample size using listwise deletion was n = 3,191.

Outcome Variable: Violent Behavior

Eight questions from the Add Health dataset regarding violent behavior were used to create the outcome variable, violent behavior. Respondents were asked:

1. In the past 12 months, how often did you use or threaten to use a weapon to get something from someone?



- 2. In the past 12 months, how often did you take part in a physical fight where a group of your friends was against another group?
- 3. In the past 12 months, how often did you get into a serious physical fight?
- 4. In the past 12 months, how often did you hurt someone badly enough to need bandages or care from a doctor or nurse?

The four response categories for these questions (0 = never, 1 = one or more times, 2 = three or four times, 3 = five or more times) were dichotomized such that the individuals either did or did not commit one or more of these acts in the past 12 months. This was patterned after a similar measurement of violence (Haynie et al. 2006). Additionally, respondents were asked to indicate if in the past 12 months they had:

- 5. Pulled a knife or gun on someone? (yes = 1).
- 6. Ever carried a weapon at school? (yes =1).
- 7. Used a weapon in a fight? (yes =1).
- 8. Shot or stabbed someone? (yes = 1).

When combined, these eight responses provide a count of the total number of incidents of violent behavior by each respondent, resulting in a measure that ranged from 0-8. The same process was applied to the measurement of violent behavior at wave II.

Explanatory Variables

My first key explanatory variable is hopelessness. I use four items to capture a multidimensional view of hopelessness. Specifically, respondents were asked:

1. How often was this true during the past week? You felt hopeful about the future? (0 = most/all of the time, 1 = a lot of the time, 2 = sometimes, 3 = never/rarely).



- 2. How often was this true during the past week? You felt life was not worth living? (0 = never/rarely, 1 = sometimes, 2 = a lot of the time, 3 = most/all of the time).
- 3. What do you think are the chances that you will live to age 35? (1 = almost no chance, 2 = some chance, but probably not, 3 = a 50-50 chance, 4 = a good chance, 5 = almost certain).
- 4. What do you think are the chances that you will be killed by age 21? (1 = almost no chance, 2 = some chance, but probably not, 3 = a 50-50 chance, 4 = a good chance, 5 = almost certain).

I created a four-indicator factor variable of hopelessness using a principal factor method with rotated factor loadings. From the original four variables, a unidimensional factor structure emerged that accounts for 39.70% of total variance among these items.

The second key explanatory variable is minor delinquency. Accordingly, ten indicators of minor delinquency were combined: tagging, stole something worth more than \$50, stole something worth less than \$50, stole something from a house, sold drugs, deliberately damaged property, shoplifted, ran away from home, drove a car that wasn't theirs, or were loud/unruly in a public place. Each item ranged from 0-3 where 0 = never, 1 = one or more times, 2 = three or more times, and 3 = five or more times. I created an index by summing the scores across all ten indicators, resulting in a measure that ranges from 0 to 30. The Cronbach's alpha for this measure is 0.78.

An additional key explanatory variable is exposure to violence. I measure exposure to violence with a five-item index. The list of types of violence respondents were exposed to includes: they saw someone shoot/stab someone else, someone pulled a knife/gun on them, someone shot them, someone cut/stabbed them, they were jumped. Each item ranged from 0 to 3



where 0 = never, 1 = once, and 2 = more than once. Drawing on these five items I created a summative index that ranged from 0 to 10. The Cronbach's alpha for this measure is 0.66.

The fourth key explanatory variable is sense of community. This was measured with a six-item index. The six indicators of community asked if participants knew most people in their neighborhood (1 = true), have recently stopped to talk to someone who lives there (1 = true), feel that people in the neighborhood look out for each other (1 = true), feel safe in their neighborhood (1 = yes), are happy living in their neighborhood (1 = not at all, 2 = very little, 3 = somewhat, 4 = quite a bit, 5 = very much), would be happy or unhappy if they had to move (1 = very happy, 2 = a little happy, 3 = wouldn't make any differences, 4 = a little unhappy, 5 = very unhappy). I created an index by summing the scores across the six indicators, resulting in a measure that ranges from 0 to 14. The Cronbach's alpha for this measure is 0.60. A second measure of community was used to indicate whether the individuals had moved since wave I, asking if participants had lived there since the month of their last interview (no = 1). This variable is intended to measure a sense of community disruption, or detachment from community or residence.

Finally, impulsivity is the fifth key explanatory variable and was measured with the question, "When making decisions, you usually go with your 'gut feeling' without thinking too much about the consequences of each alternative?" This item is measured on a 5-point ordinal scale where higher numbers indicate stronger agreement. That is to say, higher numbers indicate an individual who relies more on their gut feeling than thinking before they act.

#### Control Variables

Six control variables were used in this study, four of which are age (range 10-20 in wave one), male (yes=1), Black (yes=1), and family income (ranging from \$0 to \$999 thousand in one year).



Family structure was also measured by using the legitimate skip from some of the variables. This included those that asked if the resident mother and father were born in the United States. Using legitimate skips, a family structure variable was then created indicating that participants either lived in a single parent home (yes=1) or lived with both a resident mom and dad (yes=0). Mom's education was measured as "Less than HS", "HS or equivalent", "Post HS education or some college", and "Graduated college or beyond." See Table 1 for descriptive statistics of all variables included in the analysis.

#### [Insert Table 1 about here]

#### Analytic Strategy

I analyze the data with a two-step process. First, I look at just wave I and examine whether the variables predict violent behavior cross-sectionally. Then I look at whether violent behavior in wave II is predicted by the wave I variables to determine the effects of time on the level of violence expressed. Due to the nature of the outcome variable, Poisson regression is used for this analysis. Violent behavior from wave I (measured the same way as violent behavior from wave II, as stated above) was also used as a control in the second model. The coefficients are exponentiated, thus yielding incidence rate ratios. These assess the violent crime rate of one group relative to the rate of another group. Values greater than one indicate a positive association and those between zero and one indicate a negative association.

#### **RESULTS**

Table 2 presents the results from the model predicting violent behavior in wave I. The results show that hopelessness is positively related with violent behavior: each one unit increase in hopelessness is associated with a 5.9% increase in the rate of violent behaviors. The relationship between hopelessness and violent behavior is statistically significant (p<.05). Minor



delinquency, exposure to violence, and impulsivity are all positively associated with violent behavior at the p<.001 level. Each one unit increase in minor delinquency is associated with an 8% increase in the rate of violent behaviors, and each one unit increase in exposure to violence is associated with a 24% increase in the rate of violent behaviors. A one unit increase in impulsivity is associated with a 16.2% increase in the rate of violent behaviors.

## [Insert Table 2 about here]

Being male, Black, and growing up in a single parent household are all positively associated with the rate of violent behaviors at the p<.001 level. Males are expected to commit 54.8% more violent behaviors than females, and Blacks are expected to commit 34.2% more violent behaviors than members of other racial groups. Individuals who grew up in a single parent household are expected to commit 15.7% more violent behaviors than those who grew up in a two-parent household. Furthermore, each one unit decrease in the mother's education of the individual is associated with a 15.3% increase in the rate of violent behaviors. Community, age, and income were not significant predictors of violent behavior in this model.

Table 3 presents the results from the model predicting violent behavior in wave II. Once again, hopelessness is positively associated with violent behavior at the p<.05 level. Each one unit increase in hopelessness at wave one is associated with a 5.9% increase in the rate of violent behaviors at wave II, adjusting for the previous rate of violent behavior. Those who moved since wave I tended to be involved in more violent behaviors (34.7% higher). Minor delinquency is negatively associated with the rate of violent behaviors: each one unit decrease in minor delinquency in wave I being associated with a 3.2% increase in violent behaviors in wave II (p<.001). In this model, exposure to violence, community, impulsivity, age, male, Black, income, single parent household, mom's education, and violent behavior at wave I were not



statistically significant predictors of violent behavior at wave II.

#### [Insert Table 3 about here]

#### **DISCUSSION**

The first statistical model shows that hopelessness, minor delinquency, exposure to violence and impulsivity were all positively associated with violent behaviors. This supports research discussed previously (e.g., Agnew 2003; Akers 1998; Cloward and Ohlin 1960; Hartnagel and Krahn 1989; Matsueda and Anderson 1998; Olweus 1995; Osgood et al. 1996; Thornberry et al. 1994; Warr 2002). While community was not found to be a significant predictor of violence in the first model, it does show up in the second model when those who moved between wave I and wave II were found to be more likely to commit violent behaviors. The other main key explanatory variables (hopelessness, minor delinquency, exposure to violence, and impulsivity) all seem to have the expected connection with violent behavior when measured in wave I.

The majority of the control variables (male, Black, single parent household, and mom's education) also contribute to the propensity to violence, as expected. Studies indicate that those who are male and African American tend to be at higher risk for violent behavior (e.g., Stoddard, Zimmerman, and Bauermeister 2011). This is possibly due to the propensity for males to express their emotions more outwardly than females and for those among the racial minority to become more frustrated than the privileged white. Those who come from single parent homes are also at more risk for violence (e.g., Haynie, Silver, and Teasdale 2006), perhaps because these adolescents have less parental attention given at home and are thus unable to control their emotions as well as those with two parents. Furthermore, mother's education (along with income) is a measure of socioeconomic status which has been shown to have lasting effects on child development, including the propensity for violence (e.g., Anderson, Cesur, and Tekin



2015). This is possibly due to lack of opportunity, resulting in frustration and anger which can then lead to violent behavior.

The findings in this study become noteworthy when model two is examined. Almost all the previously noted predictors of violent behavior either become non-significant or turn negative except for the variables hopelessness and moved since wave I, as discussed previously. Even more interesting is the fact that violent behavior measured at time one is not predictive of violent behavior at time two, as would be expected since involvement in criminal behavior tends to be consistent for many youth over time. The results suggest that over time the typically published causes of violent behavior are not supported, except for feelings of hopelessness and a measure of community disruption. While the statistical significance of hopelessness is only at the p<.05 level and is associated with violent behavior at a modest level (5.9%), it is interesting that it is one of the very few factors that remains statistically significant over time. This could be because the other predictors of violence have already had attention drawn to them in research and, therefore, are being controlled over time. In other words, since so much research has already shed light on the connection between these variables and violent behavior, perhaps policies or other social strategies focused on potentially violent youth (according to current research) are working and violent behavior over time is being curbed. If this is true, however, then more focus needs to be placed on feelings of hopelessness and community disruption as other predictors of violence.

The role of hopelessness in predicting violent behavior, while not large, is still statistically significant and remains consistent over time while the other variables do not.

Moreover, hopelessness has rarely been studied in association with outwardly expressed violence, focusing instead on inward aggression and harm such as suicide. This study shows that



hopelessness has an important role in predicting violent behavior and should therefore be addressed in future studies of aggression and violence.

#### **CONCLUSION**

This study contributes to the limited amount of research done on the relationship between hopelessness and violence. I have argued that hopelessness has an impact on violent behavior over time. Using Poisson regression, analyses indicate that those who feel more hopeless commit more violent acts over time, with almost everything else included in the analysis losing its connection to violent behavior throughout the models. This confirms the conceptual approach and hypotheses I proposed, and leads us to believe that society needs to become better at promoting hope and individuals' expectations that they have the ability to change their future. However, the data for this study was limited to the US and thus cannot be generalized to other societies. Moreover, hopelessness only accounts for 40% of the total variance among the items measured. Thus, while it may not be the best measure of this concept, this study suggests it is useful for understanding an important negative outcome. Hopelessness may not be highly predictive of violence and is likely not a leading factor in the etiology of violent behavior. Having said that, it was still one of the very few factors that remained in the model when looking at violence over time and, therefore, should still be considered when addressing this important topic.

This study shows that the typically applied concepts and variables used in the prediction of adolescent delinquency and violent behavior do not hold as well over time as hopelessness. While delinquency, exposure to violence, impulsivity, gender, race, single parent household, and parent's education are good predictors of violence in the moment, they become non-significant over time. Hopelessness, however, persists over time. This shows that more research needs to be



done on the concepts of hope and hopelessness and the effects that individual attitudes have on aggressive behavior over time.

Future research should also try to find a better measure of hopelessness since it is an attitude that deals with expectations over time, which is one of the main findings of this study. Additionally, more in depth investigations of hopelessness regarding peers, community, and family could also be conducted to determine the extent to which hopelessness arises and is formed in the individual and their surroundings. Furthermore, since adolescence is arguably different in other cultures, future research could also examine what hopelessness looks like in other areas of the world and how it also might affect youth violent behavior there.



#### REFERENCES

- Agnew, Robert. 2003. "An Integrated Theory of the Adolescent Peak in Offending." *Youth and Society* 34(3):263-299.
- Akers, Ronald L. 1998. Social Learning and Social Structure: A General Theory of Crime and Deviance. Boston: Northeastern University Press.
- Allwood, Marureen A., Carly Baetz, Sarah DeMarco, and Debora J. Bell. 2012. "Depressive Symptoms, Including Lack of Future Orientation, as Mediators in the Relationship Between Adverse Life Events and Delinquent Behaviors." *Journal of Child & Adolescent Trauma* 5(2):114-128.
- Anderson, D. Mark, Resul Cesur, and Erdal Tekin. 2015. "Youth Depression and Future Criminal Behavior." *Economic Inquiry* 53(1):294-317.
- Arnett, Jeffrey Jensen. 2000. "High Hopes in a Grim World: Emerging Adults' Views of Their Futures and 'Generation X'." *Youth and Society* 31(3):267-286.
- Barber, Nigel. 2008. "Evolutionary Social Science: A New Approach to Violent Crime."

  \*\*Aggression and Violent Behavior 13(3):237-250.
- Blee, Kathleen M. 2007. "The Microdynamics of Hate Violence: Interpretive Analysis and Implications for Responses." *American Behavioral Scientist* 51(2):258-270.
- Bolland, John M. 2003. "Hopelessness and Risk Behavior Among Adolescents Living in High-Poverty Inner-City Neighborhoods." *Journal of Adolescence* 26(2):145-158.
- Bolland, John M., Chalandra M. Bryant, Bradley E. Lian, Debra M. McCallum, Alexander T. Vazsonyi, and Joan M. Barth. 2007. "Development and Risk Behavior Among African American, Caucasian, and Mixed-Race Adolescents Living in High Poverty Inner-City Neighborhoods." *American Journal of Community Psychology* 40(3-4):230-249.



- Bolland, John M., Debra McCallum, Brad Lian, Carolyn J. Bailey, and Paul Rowan. 2001. "Hopelessness and Violence Among Inner-City Youths." *Maternal & Child Health Journal* 5(4):237.
- Borowsky, Iris Wangman, Rachel Widome, and Michael D. Resnick. 2008. "Young People and Violence." *International Encyclopedia of Public Health* 6:675-684.
- Boulianne, Shelley, and Michelle Brailey. 2014. "Attachment to Community and Civic and Political Engagement: A Case Study of Students." *Canadian Review of Sociology* 51(4):375-388.
- Brookmeyer, Kathryn A., Christopher C. Henrich, and Mary Schwab-Stone. 2005. "Adolescents Who Witness Community Violence: Can Parent Support and Pro-Social Cognitions Protect them from Committing Violence?" *Child Development* 76(4):917-929.
- Bury, Simon M., Michael Wenzel, and Lydia Woodyatt. 2016. "Giving Hope a Sporting Chance: Hope as Distinct from Optimism When Events are Possible but not Probable." *Motivation and Emotion* 40(4):588-601.
- Busch, Vincent, Lydia Laninga-Wijnen, Tom A. van Yperen, Augustinus J.P. Schrijvers, and Johannes R.J. De Leeuw. 2015. "Bidirectional Longitudinal Associations of Perpetration and Victimization of Peer Bullying with Psychosocial Problems in Adolescents: A Cross-Lagged Panel Study." School Psychology International 36(5):532-549.
- Chaudhuri, Kausik, Payel Chowdhury, and Kevin Reilly. 2013. "A New Perspective on Violent Crime Burden Index: Evidence from Indian Districts." *Social Indicators Research* 110(2):771-789.
- Cloward, Richard A., and Lloyd E. Ohlin. 1960. *Delinquent Boys: The Culture of the Gang*.

  New York: The Free Press.



- Conley, John P., and Ping Wang. 2006. "Crime and Ethics." *Journal of Urban Economics* 60(1):107-123.
- Deming, David J. 2011. "Better Schools, Less Crime?" *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 126(4):2063-2115.
- Draine, Jeffrey, Mark S. Salzer, Dennis P. Culhane, and Trevor R. Hadley. 2002. "Role of Social Disadvantage in Crime, Joblessness, and Homelessness Among Persons with Serious Mental Illness." *Psychiatric Services* 53(5):565-572.
- Duke, Naomi N., Iris W. Barowsky, Sandra L. Pettingell, and Barbara J. McMorris. 2011. "Examining Youth Hopelessness as an Independent Risk Correlate for Adolescent Delinquency and Violence." *Maternal and Child Health Journal* 15(1):87-97.
- Dudeck, Manuela, Zrinka Sosic-Vasic, Stefanie Otte, Katharina Rasche, Katharina Leichauer, Susanne Tippelt, Riad Shenar, Solveig Klingner, Nenad Vasic, and Judith Streb. 2016. "The Association of Adverse Childhood Experiences and Appetitive Aggression with Suicide Attempts and Violent Crimes in Male Forensic Psychiatry Inpatients." *Psychiatry Research* 240:352-357.
- DuRant, Robert H., Chris Cadenhead, Robert A. Pendergrast, and Greg Slavens. 1994. "Factors Associated with the Use of Violence Among Urban Black Adolescents." *American Journal of Public Health* 84(4):612-617.
- Epps, Kevin J., and Rebecca Haworth. 1993. "Attitudes Toward Women and Rape Among Male Adolescents Convicted of Sexual Versus Nonsexual Crimes." *Journal of Psychology* 127(5):501-506.
- Fajnzylber, Pablo, Daniel Lederman, and Norman Loayza. 2002. "What Causes Violent Crime?" *European Economic Review* 46(7):1323-1357.



- Farrington, David P. 2007. "Origins of Violent Behavior Over the Life Span." Pp. 19-48 in *The Cambridge Handbook of Violent Behavior and Aggression*, edited by D. J. Flannery, A.T. Vazsonyi, and I. D. Waldman. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Gibson, Chris, and John Wright. 2001. "Low Self-Control and Coworker Delinquency: A Research Note." *Journal of Criminal Justice* 29(6):483-492.
- Godfrey, Joseph J. 1987. *A Philosophy of Human Hope*. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Martinus Nijhoff Publishers.
- Gorman-Smith, Deborah, David B. Henry, and Patrick H. Tolan. 2004. "Exposure to Community Violence and Violence Perpetration: The Protective Effects of Family Functioning." *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology* 33(3):439-449.
- Gottfredson, Michael R., and Travis Hirschi. 1990. *A General Theory of Crime*. Stanford: Stanford University Press.
- Harrison, Lana, and Joseph Gfroerer. 1992. "The Intersection of Drug Use and Criminal Behavior: Results from the National Household Survey on Drug Abuse." *Crime & Delinquency* 38(4):422-443.
- Harris, K.M, C.T. Halpern, C., E. Whitsel, J. Hussey, J. Tabor, P. Entzel, and J.R. Udry. 2009.

  The National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health: Research Design [WWW Document]. URL:

  <a href="http://www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/addhealth/design">http://www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/addhealth/design</a>.
- Hartnagel, Timothy F., and Harvey Krahn. 1989. "High School Dropouts, Labor Market Success and Criminal Behavior." *Youth and Society* 20(4):416-444.



- Haynie, Dana L., Eric Silver, and Brent Teasedale. 2006. "Neighborhood Characteristics, Peer Networks, and Adolescent Violence." *Journal of Quantitative Criminology* 22(2):147-169.
- Herrenkohl, Todd I., Eugene Maguin, Karl G. Hill, J. David Hawkins, Robert D. Abbott, and Richard F. Catalano. 2000. "Developmental Risk Factors for Youth Violence." *Journal of Adolescent Health* 26(3):176-186.
- Huen, Jenny M. Y., Brian Y. T. Ip, Samuel M. Y. Ho, and Paul S. F. Yip. 2015. "Hope and Hopelessness: The Role of Hope in Buffering the Impact of Hopelessness on Suicidal Ideation." *PLOS ONE* 10(6):1-18.
- Katz, Jack. 1990. Seductions of Crime: Moral and Sensual Attractions in Doing Evil. New York: Basic Books.
- Lemert, Edwin M. 1951. Social Pathology: A Systemic Approach to the Theory of Sociopathic Behavior. New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Lochner, Lance, and Enrico Moretti. 2001. "The Effect of Education on Crime: Evidence from Prison Inmates, Arrests, and Self-Reports." *American Economic Review* 94(1):155-189.
- Lorion, Raymond P., and William Saltzman. 1993. "Children's Exposure to Community

  Violence: Following a Path from Concern to Research to Action." *Psychiatry* 56(1):55-65.
- Luo, Xingwei, Qin Wang, Xiang Wang, and Taisheng Cai. 2016. "Reasons for Living and Hope as the Protective Factors Against Suicidality in Chinese Patients with Depression: A Cross Sectional Study." *BMC Psychiatry* 16(1):1-7.
- McGee, Rose F. 1984. "Hope: A Factor in Crisis Resolution." *Advances in Nursing Science* 6(4):34-43.



- Maguin, Eugene, and Rolf Loeber. 1996. "Academic Performance and Delinquency." *Crime and Justice* 20(1):145-264.
- Marien, Michael. 2011. "The Drug War Hits Central America." World Future Review 3(1):177.
- Matsueda, Ross L., and Kathleen Anderson. 1998. "The Dynamics of Delinquent Peers and Delinquent Behavior." *Criminology* 36(2):269-308.
- Nurmi, Jari-Erik. 1989. "Development of Orientation to the Future During Early Adolescence:

  A Four-Year Long Longitudinal Study and Two Cross-Sectional Comparisons."

  International Journal of Psychology 24(1-5):195-214.
- Nurmi, Jari-Erik, Millicent E. Poole, and Rachel Seginer. 1995. "Tracks and Transitions: A comparison of Adolescent Future-oriented Goals, Explorations, and Commitments in Australia, Israel, and Finland." *International Journal of Psychology* 30(3):355-375.
- Olweus, Dan. 1995. "Bullying or Peer Abuse at School: Facts and Intervention." *Current Directions in Psychological Science* 4(6):196-200.
- Osgood, D. Wayne, Janet K. Wilson, Patrick M. O'Malley, Jerald G. Bachman, and Lloyd D. Johnston. 1996. "Routine Activities and Individual Deviant Behavior." *American Sociological Review* 61(4):635-655.
- Pratt, Travis C., and Francis T. Cullen. 2000. "The Empirical Status of Gottfredson and Hirschi's General Theory of Crime: A Meta-Analysis." *Criminology* 38(3):931-964.
- Resnick, Michael D., Peter S. Bearman, and Robert W. Blum. 1997. "Protecting Adolescents from Harm: Findings from the National Longitudinal Study on Adolescent Health." *Journal of the American Medical Association* 278(10):823-832.



- Resnick, Michael D., Majorie Ireland, and Iris Barowsky. 2004. "Youth Violence Perpetration: What Protects? What Predicts? Findings from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health." *Journal of Adolescent Health* 35(5):424e1-424e10.
- Sampson, Robert J., and Stephen W. Raudenbush. 1997. "Neighborhoods and Violent Crime: A Multilevel Study of Collective Efficacy." *Science* 277(5328):918-924.
- Stacey, Nevzer. 1998. "Social Benefits of Education." *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science* 559(1):54-63.
- Stoddard, Sarah, Susan Henly, Renee Sieving, and John Bolland. 2011. "Social Connections, Trajectories of Hopelessness, and Serious Violence in Impoverished Urban Youth." *Journal of Youth & Adolescence* 40(3):278-295.
- Stoddard, Sarah A., Marc A. Zimmerman, and Jose A. Bauermeister. 2011. "Thinking About the Future as a Way to Succeed in the Present: A Longitudinal Study of Future Orientation and Violent Behaviors Among African American Youth." *American Journal of Community Psychology* 48(3-4):238-246.
- Thornberry, Terence P., Alan J. Lizotte, Marvin D. Krohn, Margaret Farnworth Sung Joon Jang.

  1994. "Delinquent Peers, Beliefs and Delinquent Behavior: A Longitudinal Test of
  Interactional Theory." *Criminology* 32(1):47-983.
- Valois, Robert F., John M. MacDonald, Lena Bretous, Megan A. Fischer, and J. Wanzer Drane.

  2002. "Risk Factors and Behaviors Associated with Adolescent Violence and

  Aggression." *American Journal of Health Behavior* 26(6):454-464.
- Warr, Mark. 2002. Companions in Crime: The Social Aspects of Criminal Conduct. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.



White, Helene, Paula Fite, Dustin Pardini, Eun-Young Mun, and Rolf Loeber. 2013.
"Moderators of the Dynamic Link Between Alcohol Use and Aggressive Behavior Among Adolescent Males." *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology* 41(2):211-222.
Wiklund, Gunnar, Vladislav V. Ruchkin, Roman A. Koposov, and Britt af Kinteberg. 2014.
"Pro-Bullying Attitudes Among Incarcerated Juvenile Delinquents: Antisocial Behavior, Psychopathic Tendencies and Violent Crime." *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry* 37(3):281-288.

# **TABLES**

**Table 1. Descriptive Statistics** 

	Meana	SD
Outcome variables		
Violent behavior (wave 1)	0.92	1.43
Violent behavior (wave 2)	0.65	1.28
Explanatory variables		
Hopelessness		
Factor variable	0.00	0.99
Feel hopeless	1.12	0.98
Chances live to age 35	1.60	0.83
Chances killed age 21	1.64	0.79
Life not worth living	0.15	0.47
Minor delinquency	2.20	3.28
Exposure to violence	0.45	1.08
Community	10.65	2.50
Moved since wave 1	10.69	
Impulsivity	2.98	1.14
Controls		
Age	15.01	1.62
Income	49.11	59.06
Mom's education	2.72	1.04
Male	47.88	
Black	22.88	
Single parent household	29.11	

Note: a Proportions are presented for categorical variables. N = 3,191

Table 2. Determinants of Violent Behavior (wave 1)

Explanatory Variables	Coefficient
Hopelessness	1.059**
Minor delinquency	1.080***
Exposure to violence	1.240***
Community	0.996
Impulsivity	1.162***
Controls	
Age	1.000
Male	1.548***
Black	1.342***
Income	1.000
Single parent household	1.157***
Mom's education	0.847***
Constant	0.410***
LR chi2(11)	2123.54
Prob > chi2	0.000
Pseudo R2	0.223
Valid N	3191

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> Significance at the p<.0001 level
\*\* Significance at the p<.01 level



<sup>\*</sup> Significance at the p<.05 level

Table 3. Determinants of Violent Behavior (wave 2)

Explanatory Variables	Coefficient
Hopelessness	1.059*
Minor delinquency	0.968***
Exposure to violence	1.01
Community	1.007
Moved since wave 1	1.347***
Impulsivity	0.99
Controls	
Age	0.991
Male	0.941
Black	0.963
Income	1.000
Single parent household	1.034
Mom's education	1.031
Violent behavior (wave 1)	0.998
Constant	0.691
LR chi2(13)	48.94
Prob > chi2	0.000
Pseudo R2	0.006
Valid N	3191

<sup>\*\*\*</sup> Significance at the p<.0001 level

\*\* Significance at the p<.01 level

\* Significance at the p<.05 level

